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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM”) has been established as
a market designed to accommodate companies to
which a high investment risk may be attached. In
particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a
track record of profitability nor any obligation to forecast
future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks
arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed
on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which
the companies operate. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is
a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on
GEM is publication on the internet website operated by
the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally
required to issue paid announcements in gazetted
newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should
note that they need to have access to the GEM website
at www.hkgem.com in order to obtain up-to-date
information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no
responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Asian Capital Resources
(Holdings) Limited collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to
Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited. The directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best
of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement in this report misleading;
and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived
at after due and careful consideration and are founded on
bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

(1)

(2)
(3)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

I am pleased to present the annual results of Asian Capital
Resources (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2007.

The Group continued to focus on and review the long-term
prospects of its logistic services including freight forward
services in China and Hong Kong. The Company has
experienced severe competition in this division of its business,
and has had to reassess the entire logistics business. The
Company wishes to avoid overtrading in this particular area,
and to this extent, is reviewing the turnover that can be
achieved from the business and is aiming towards achieving
profitability from all the divisions within the Group.

As to the information technology division of the Group’s
business services, over the past few years this division has
contributed no more than HK$1 million to the total turnover
of the Group. However, the Directors of the Company have
continually been seeking investment opportunities to broaden
the Group’s income base and to expand the Group’s business
operation. The Board has considered the following factors,
including but not limited to the Group’s existing investments
in the logistics services and information technology sectors,
and the returns that are currently achieved therefrom. On 24
December 2007 the Company entered into an agreement to
purchase Guangzhou Wavecom Communication and
Advertising Limited, and the Directors are of the view that
this acquisition presents an exciting opportunity for the Group
to expand its existing business structure and to provide an
opportunity to enlarge the revenue base of the Group,
particularly in the information technology sector, with regards
to the provision of internet protocol television services to the
southern China region, and the returns that can be generated
therefrom.

During the past year, there was a 40.18% decrease in the
turnover of the Group for 2007, and the loss for the year
increased from HK$17 million for 2006 to HK$20 million for
2007.

1,000,000

40.18%
1 7 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0
20,000,000
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Notwithstanding the management’s efforts in rationalizing our
operations and enhancing our cost efficiency during the last
year, the aim to attain profitability is yet to be achieved. In the
year ahead, the Group will continue to strengthen its ability to
meet the growing demand for quality logistics services and
allocate sufficient resources to develop the high potential PRC
market.

Apart from the aforementioned operations, the Group
continues to explore investment opportunities which are
strategic to our business operations and which will contribute
significantly to the return of our shareholders. To this end the
Group, looking forward to 2008, has decided to explore further
opportunities for development in the corporate finance sector.
Hence the acquisition of Vega International Limited, which is
principally engaged in the provision of services in corporate
finance and investment, project planning and development,
technology pro ject  brokerage serv ices,  corporate
development services, management consulting and post
acquisition advisory and professional management services.
The Group considered that the acquisition represented a good
attempt to expand its existing business portfolio into the area
of corporate f inance and development, and provides
opportunities for the Group to expand its existing businesses.

New technologies, innovative business vision and a strong
professional team are the key assets of the Group contributing
to our competitiveness. We are confident that these attributes
will not only further our business growth but will also strengthen
our position as one of the leading one-stop logistics services
providers, information technology and corporate finance
services providers in China and Hong Kong respectively and
will allow us to ultimately generate long-term and sustainable
returns to our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity
to thank the Group’s clients, suppliers, vendors, banks,
business partners, consultants and shareholders for their
support and trust generously given to the Group. The Board
also expresses gratitude to the management and staff for their
work and dedication during the past years.

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2008

Vega International Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and loss attributable to shareholders

The total turnover of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2007 was approximately HK$168,397,000
(2006: HK$281,510,000) which was decreased by
approximately 40.18% as compared to that of the previous
financial year. The Group’s gross profit margin is increased
from 6.4% for the year ended 31 December 2006 to 7.9% for
the current period. The increase in gross profit margin is due
to the closure of the non-profitable operations in Hong Kong
and the USA.

The audited consolidated loss from operations for the year
was increased by 13.30% to approximately HK$20,149,000
as compared with the corresponding period last year. It was
mainly due to the extremely competitive environment which
impacted on the turnover of the logistics operations of the
Group.

Financial cost

The financial cost of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2007 was approximately HK$312,000 (2006: HK$210,000)
which was increased by approximately 48.57% as compared
to that of the same period of last year.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As of 31 December 2007, the Group’s borrowing consists of
a loan from the ultimate holding company of HK$4,552,000.
The Group had a  cash ba lance o f  approx imate ly
HK$2,658,000 (2006: HK$6,237,000).

The Group continues to adopt a prudent treasury policy to
maintain its cash balance either in Hong Kong Dollars, or in
the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries, maintaining
a minimum exposure to foreign exchange risks.

The issued share capital of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2007 has increased from HK$47,624,000 to
HK$63,933,541.

168,397,000 
281,510,000

40.18%

6.4% 7.9%

13.30% 20,149,000 

312,000
210,000

48.57 %

4,552,000
2,658,000

6,237,000

47,624,000
63,933,541
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Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies

Following the critical review of all the outside PRC units of
Ever-OK International Forwarding Co., Ltd. in December, 2006,
the Los Angeles branch did not live up to the Group’s return
expectations and suffered from weak management. A new
target was set for management performance and the staff in
Los Angeles could not cope with the demands. Accordingly,
the Los Angeles office’s operation was orderly wound-down
during the first quarter of 2007 with minimum impact to the
overall operation of the Group. The unit was initially set up as
a complete separate entity registered in the United States
and with limited liability to the Group and has been operating
under strict budgets and just needed cash availability. The
Directors consider that adequate accrued expenditures and
financial provisions had been made for providing a true and
fair disclosure for the unit.

On 14 February 2007 the Board announced that on 8 February
2007, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Xie Xuan (the “Vendor”) in relation to the
acquisition of 100% equity interest in Vega International Group
Limited (the “Target Company”) for a cash consideration of
US$50,000. The purchase was financed internally within the
Group. The Vendor is an executive director and the Chairman
of the Company, and therefore is a connected person of the
Company. As such the transaction constituted a connected
transaction under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
However the connected transaction was a transaction on
normal commercial terms where each of the percentage ratios
(other than the profits ratio) was equal to or more than 0.1%
but less than 2.5% and the total consideration was less than
HK$1,000,000, thus falling within the de minimis exemption
under 20.31(2)(b) of the GEM Listing Rules which was in force
at the relevant time and was therefore exempt from the
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

As to the reasons for the acquisition, the Target Company is
principally engaged in the provision of services in corporate
finance and investment, project planning and development,
technology pro ject  brokerage serv ices,  corporate
development services, management consulting and post
acquisition advisory and professional management services.
Immediately after the acquisition, the Group is interested in
100% of the entire issued share capital of the Target Company.
The Group considered that the acquisition represented a good
attempt to expand its existing business portfolio into the area
of corporate f inance and development, and provides
opportunities for the Group to expand its existing businesses.

Vega International Group Limited
100%

50,000

20

0.1% 2.5%
1,000,000

20.31(2)(b)

100%



9

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2007, the gearing ratio of the Group,
expressed as a percentage of total borrowings over total
assets, was 12% (31 December 2006: 27%).

Employee and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2007, the Group employed a total of 142
employees (as at 31 December 2006: 246), of which 9 were
located in Hong Kong and the remaining 133 were located in
the PRC. The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practices and formulated on the basis
of performance and experience of the employees. The salary
and related benefits of the employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis and the general remuneration
structure of the Group is subject to review annually.

Issue of New Shares

On 12 February 2007, the Company had entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with
Asian Dynamics International Limited (“Asian Dynamics”),
pursuant to which it agreed to issue and allot 91,000,000
shares (the “Subscription Shares”) in the capital of the
Company to Asian Dynamics, representing 19.11% of the
issued share capital of the Company. The issue price of each
share was HK$0.10, with a total subscription price of
HK$9,100,000. The Subscription Shares were issued in
satisfaction of the contractual sum payable by the Company
to Asian Dynamics for monies that have been advanced to
the Company totaling HK$9,100,000.

Given that Asian Dynamics was a controlling shareholder of
the Company then ho ld ing approx imate ly  55.63%
shareholding interest in the Company, the subscription of the
Subscription Shares by Asian Dynamics constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. A circular of the Company containing,
among other things, further details of the Subscription
Agreement and a notice of the extraordinary general meeting
was dispatched to the shareholders of the Company on 14
March 2007, and the extraordinary general meeting was held
on 3 April 2007, wherein the independent shareholders of the
Company voted in favour of an ordinary resolution approving
the issue of new shares. The Subscription Shares were issued
and alloted to Asian Dynamics on 12 April 2007.

12%
27%

142 246
9 133

Asian
Dynamics International Limited Asian
Dynamics

Asian Dynamics
91,000,000

19.11%
0.10

9,100,000
Asian Dynamics

9,100,000

Asian Dynamics
55.63%

20 Asian Dynamics

Asian Dynamics
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On 5 September 2007, the Company entered into subscription
agreements whereby it agreed to issue 25,014,820,
35,860,262 and 11,223,231 shares to United Hill Investments
Limited, Bonus Gain Limited and Always Fast International
Limited respectively at the issue price of HK$0.229 per Share.
The Company entered into the subscription agreements as a
means to capitalizing loans that were owed to the respective
companies, which will incur the benefits to the Company of
being able to repay the outstanding loans without drawing on
the working capital of the Company. The Shareholders of the
Company approved the issue and al lotment of the
Subscription Shares at an EGM held on 4 October 2007. The
Subscription Shares were issued and allotted on 22 October
2007.

Grant of Options

On 5 September 2007, the Company entered into agreements
with United Hill Investments Limited, Bonus Gain Limited and
Always Fast International Limited whereby the Company
agreed to grant 33,946,039, 48,663,704 and 15,230,300
Options respectively, with the rights to require, at any time
during the option period of four years, the Company to issue
and allot one Option Share upon the exercise of each Option
at the Exercise Price of HK$0.275 per Option. The
Shareholders of the Company approved the granting of the
Options, and the issue and allotment of the Option Shares at
an EGM held on 4 October 2007. The shareholding structure
of the Company will not be affected until such time as the
option holders decide to exercise their options.

Change of Name

Pursuant to the special resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 1 February 2007, the name of the
Company was changed from “Asian Information Resources
(Holdings) Limited ” to “Asian Capital
Resources (Holdings) Limited”, and for identification purposes,
its Chinese name to “ ”. A Certificate
of Registration of Change of Name of Oversea Company in
the name of “Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited” and
the Chinese name “ ” for the
Company has been issued by the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong under Part XI of the Companies Ordinance on 15
March 2007.

0.229
2 5 , 0 1 4 , 8 2 0

35,860,262 11,223,231 United
Hil l Investments Limited Bonus Gain
L im i ted A lways  Fas t  In te rna t iona l
Limited

United
Hil l Investments Limited Bonus Gain
Limited Always Fast International Limited

33,946,039 48,663,704
15,230,300

0.275

Asian Information Resources (Holdings)
Limited 

Asian Capital  Resources (Holdings)
Limited

XI Asian Capital
Resources (Holdings) Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

During the period under review, the Group continued its
focuses on core business in logistics services and information
technology.

The Company has a sufficient level of operations in logistics
services and has sufficient assets to operate its business.
Currently, the Company does not have any financial difficulties
to an extent which may seriously impair the Company’s ability
to continue its business or which has led to the suspension
of any of its operations. The Company also has sufficient
assets to operate its business due to the continuing support
of the major shareholder of the Company.

The Company shall focus its efforts in building up its profits
through the logistics services and corporate f inance
businesses by way of achieving further expansion, and
anticipates the coming year will provide exciting opportunities
for the Company, supported by the encouraging global
economic growth.

The Board is in the process of reviewing all the operations of
the Group to ensure that the returns from those operations
can be justif ied. The Board intends to dispose of al l
non-profitable operations within the Group. Furthermore, the
Board will strive to reduce the operating costs of the Group.

Furthermore the Company is in the process of consolidating
its core business of logistics services, and is constantly
reviewing the return from this business to the Group. The
Company has experienced severe competition in this division
of its business, and has had to reassess the entire logistics
business. The Company wishes to avoid overtrading in this
particular area, and to this extent, is reviewing the turnover
that can be achieved from the business and is aiming towards
achieving profitability from all the divisions within the Group.

 



Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Annual Report 2007

Performance of operating divisions

Logistics Services

Considering the importance of the business and the issues
encountered by the Group last year in respect of the logistics
operations, the management has put much effort to improving
the operation and control through branches and subsidiaries.
The effort includes but is not limited to increasing marketing
efforts, widening, improving efficiency of our logistics services
including freight forwarding services and keeping tighter
control on the accounting records. The turnover of this
operation decreased by approximately 40.18% compared to
that of the previous period. This was mainly due to the fact
that the Group experienced an extremely competitive
environment in the PRC and that the Group closed down the
non-profitable activities and branches of EverOk International
Forwarding Company Ltd which impacted on the turnover of
the logistics operations. With continued efforts of the
management, the Company will increase quality clients for
the coming year with an increasing contribution to the Group.

Furthermore, on 19 June 2007, the Water Carriage Division
of the Ministry of Communication of the People’s Republic of
China (the MOC) issued a notice to all international liner service
operators, demanding the enforcement of the “Regulations
of the People’s Republic of China on International Maritime
Transportation”, which required that; (i) when concluding
agreements on negotiated rates with NVOCCs (Non-Vessel
Operating Common Carriers), international liner service
operators shall make sure that such NVOCCs have registered
their bills of lading and paid the required surety bond in
accordance with the provisions of these regulations; and
(ii) an operator of international shipping services shall not
accept cargo or containers from a NVOCC who fails to register
its bill of lading and deposit the surety bond. The management
considers it will have a negative impact on the logistic services
business of the Company in the coming year as a result of
higher costs and additional demand for working capital. The
Board is presently observing and reviewing the overall effects
of such directives in the industry as a whole and make
appropriate management decisions to safe-guard the
operations of the subsidiary and maintain a viable operational
env i ronment  for  fu ture bus iness pursu i ts .  Fur ther
announcement will be made after thorough assessment.

40.18%

(i)

(ii)
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In order to make the logistics services more profitable, with
continued efforts of the management, the Company has
planned to target its development into the following areas:
(i) Enhancing the freight delivery and distribution services in
the PRC for its clients; (ii) Developing warehouse and logistics
centre in the PRC for distribution; (iii) Developing more major
clients and providing them with more value added services.

Furthermore, with the “just-in-time” management concept
developed in recent years, the manufacturers, the distributors
and the retailers rely on frequent shipments to sustain
production flows and inventory rather than accumulating
inventory in their warehouses. This is also accelerating the
development of the logistics services business.

Information Technology

Over the past few years the information technology (“IT”)
division of the Group has only been able to contribute no more
than HK$1 million in each financial year to the turnover of the
Group. However, the Directors have been seeking investment
opportunities to broaden the Group’s income base and to
expand the Group’s business operation. The Board has
considered the following factors, including but not limited to
the Group’s existing investments in the logistics services and
information technology sectors, and the returns that are
currently achieved therefrom. The Board has reviewed the
terms of the agreement dated 24 December 2007, as set out
in the circular of the Company dated 28 February 2008, and
is satisfied that the proposed acquisition of Guangzhou
Wavecom Communication and Advertising Limited is in line
with its existing information technology platform and will
provide a basis for the expansion of this platform in the area
of the provision of internet protocol television services to the
southern China region. The acquisition presents an exciting
opportunity for the Group to expand its existing business
structure and provides an opportunity to enlarge the revenue
base of the Group.

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

1,000,000
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Financial Consultancy

The Group is presently in the process of developing new
business to that of financial consultancy. With the acquisition
of Vega International Group Limited (“Vega”) the Group is now
in the process of negotiating a number of contracts for the
provision of financial consultancy services by Vega with
companies in the southern China region. In terms of these
consultancy services, they will be negotiated in the normal
course of business and shareholders will be kept informed of
this division as it progresses.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the significant subsequent events of the Group are
set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

Vega International Group Limited Vega

Vega

33
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xie Xuan

Chairman

Mr. Xie, aged 38, joined the Group in 2002. Mr. Xie holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group. He has over
15 years of successful investment and management
experience in the areas of property and logistics in the People’s
Republic of China. He graduated from Jinan University, the
PRC with a degree in International Economics.

Mr. Yang Qiulin

Mr. Yang, aged 35, joined the Group in December 2006. He
graduated from Xiang Tan University, the People’s Republic
of China with a Business Management degree. He is a
practicing lawyer as well as a certified public accountant of
China. Mr. Yang is now a senior partner of a law firm in
Guangzhou, specializing in commercial and corporate law.
Mr. Yang has over 9 years experience in the legal field.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lo Mun Lam, Raymond

Vice Chairman

Mr. Lo, aged 54, is the principal of an investment and corporate
finance firm with offices in London and Hong Kong. Trained
as a chartered accountant from London, he is licensed as a
Responsible Officer by the Securities & Futures Commission
of Hong Kong for providing Type 6 (Corporate Finance)
advisory. He has extensive expertise and experience in
international corporate finance, mergers & acquisitions, cross-
border direct investments and hedge funds investment, with
emphases in lifestyle, real estate and hospitality sectors.

He held directorate level or strategist posit ions with
multinational financial and emerging companies internationally.
Besides the Company, he currently serves as the non-
executive Chairman of the Board of Luk Fook Holdings
Limited, the Executive Chairman of Golife Concepts Holding
Limited, and an independent director of Shanghai Zendai
Property Limited. All these companies are listed in Hong Kong.

He graduated from University of Wisconsin-Madison and holds
post-graduate degrees and professional designations in
accountancy, law, finance, real estate and hospitality
disciplines, and specializes in corporate finance initiatives.

6
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Jixue

Mr. Wu, aged 61, holds a Master degree in Economics. He is
currently a professor, guest lecturer and visiting scholar at a
number of colleges and universities in the PRC and abroad.
He has published more than 220 papers and 18 books in the
areas of economics, finance and management.

Mr. Yang Zhenhong

Mr. Yang, aged 50, is a practicing lawyer and arbitrator in the
PRC. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor degree in Economics and a
Master degree in Laws. He has over 26 years of experience
in the PRC taxation, company and commercial law. He is
currently a lawyer in a PRC law firm. He is also a part-time
professor at Guangdong Judges’ College 
and legislative consultant to the Standing Committee of
Guangzhou People’s Congress . He is
a committee member of  the Research Inst i tute of
Jurisprudence of the PRC  and the
Research Institute of Taxation of the PRC 

 and a Vice-President of Guangdong Research Institute
of Taxation .

Mr. Zhang Daorong

Mr. Zhang, aged 36, is a Certified Public Accountant and
Certified Tax Agent in the PRC. He holds a Bachelor degree
in Economics and a Master degree in Business Administration.
He has over 14 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and taxation. He is currently a project manager in a firm of
certified public accountants in the PRC.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Andrew James Chandler

Legal Counsel and Company Secretary

Mr. Chandler, aged 35, joined the Group in August 2006. He
is responsible for legal and corporate compliance related
matters of the Group. He is admitted as a barrister of the
High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
1998, and a barrister and solicitor of the High Court of New
Zealand in 1996. Mr. Chandler has over 9 years experience in
the legal field.

Mr. Peng Zhi Heng

Qualified Accountant and Financial Controller

Mr. Peng, aged 45, joined the Group in November 2006. Mr.
Peng is both a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Peng
has over 10 years experience in the accounting field.

Andrew James Chandler

Chandler

Chandler

Chandler
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL

ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2007 by principal activities
is as follows:

Loss before
Turnover Taxation

HK$’000 HK$’000

By Principal activities:
Content solution and

business consultation 935 (501)
IT enabling technology 41 (1,130)
Educational content services — —
Logistic services 167,421 (2,101)
Interest Income 45 45
Unallocated corporate expenses — (16,150)
Finance Costs — (312)

168,442 (20,149)

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2007 by geographical areas
is as follows:

Loss before
Turnover Taxation

HK$’000 HK$’000

By geographical areas:
Hong Kong 976 (11,406)
The PRC 167,421 (8,743)
USA and others — —
Interest Income 45 —
Finance costs — —

168,442 (20,149)

18
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The loss for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007
and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 33 to 35
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is as follows. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

33 35

Results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 168,397 281,532 293,234 209,474 1,144
Loss from ordinary

activities attributable
to shareholders (20,149) (17,071) (14,981) (6,078) (14,609)

Loss per share (HK cents) (3.62) (3.58) (3.1) (1.3) (3.1)

Assets and liabilities of the Group
for the year ended 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 38,050 38,346 82,023 78,938 62,781
Less: Total liabilities (54,344) (59,419) (75,896) (57,140) (50,373)

Total net (liabilities)/assets
(16,294) (21,073) 6,127 21,798 12,408
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

The issued share capital of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2007 has increased from HK$47,623,710 to
HK$63,933,542.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, there were 97,840,073
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
(“the Option Shares”) granted by the Company and fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Option Shares at the exercise
price of HK$0.275 per Option Share (2006: Nil).

Details of the employee share option scheme of the Company
are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASES, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF

LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year is set out in note 26 to the
financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2007, the Company has no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders (2006: Nil) in
accordance with the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association.

14

47,623,710
63,933,542

97,840,073
0.10

0.275

28

26
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are
as follows:

Sales
the largest customer 10%
five largest customers combined 24%

Purchases
the largest supplier 10%
five largest suppliers combined 27%

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors,
their associates, nor any shareholders who own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest
suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Qiulin

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lo Mun Lam, Raymond
(appointed as Vice Chairman on 1 January 2007)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jixue
Mr. Yang Zhenhong
Mr. Zhang Daorong

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. Xie Xuan, Mr. Yang Zhenhong, and Mr.
Zhang Daorong shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

10%
24%

10%
27%

5%

87
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of
i ts subsidiar ies within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefit schemes are set out in note
9 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2007, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had registered an interest or short
position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Rule 5.46
of the GEM Listing Rules.

 9

352
5.46
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above and in the employee share
option scheme disclosures in note 28 to the financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures
in the Company or any other body corporate granted to any
Directors or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fel low
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or their respective spouse or minor children to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2007, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
interests and short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO:

28

336
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Long positions in the shares of the Company

Approximate
percentage of

the Company’s
issued share

capital
Nature of Number of ordinary

Name of shareholder Capacity interest shares held

Asian Dynamics International Beneficial Owner Corporate 327,685,431 51.25%
Limited (Note 1)

Asian Dynamics International
Limited 1

Aldgate Agents Limited (Note 2) Beneficial Owner Corporate 66,120,000 10.34%
Aldgate Agents Limited 2

Mongolia Energy Interest of a Corporate
Corporation Limited controlled corporation 66,120,000 10.34%

Bonus Gain Limited Beneficial Owner Corporate 35,860,262 5.61%

Notes:

1. Asian Dynamics Internat ional  L imited is a company

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and beneficially owned

by Asian Wealth Incorporated, Denwell Enterprises Limited,

Glamour House Limited, Mr. Chan Chi Ming and Mr. Chau Tak

Tin.

2. Aldgate Agents Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of

Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited, previously known as

New World Cyberbase Limited, a company listed on the Stock

Exchange (stock code 276). Their interests in the shares of

the Company duplicate with each other.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, no
persons, other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company, whose interests are set out under the heading
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had
registered an interest or short position in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company that was required to
be recorded under Section 336 of the SFO.

1. Asian Dynamics International Limited

Asian Wealth Incorporated Denwell

Enterprises Limited Glamour House

Limited

2. Aldgate Agents Limited 

276
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or management shareholders of the
Company or their respective associates had an interest in a
business which competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group nor any conflicts of
interest which has or may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDER

As far as the Directors are aware of, other than Asian Dynamics
International Limited, Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited,
Aldgate Agents Limited, and Bonus Gain Limited, as disclosed
above, there was no other person during the year ended 31
December 2007 who was directly or indirectly interested in
5% or more of the shares then in issue of the Company and
who was able, as a practicable matter, to direct or influence
the management of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
Messrs. Patrick Ng & Company. Messrs. Patrick Ng &
Company retire and offer themselves for re-appointment in
the name of NCN CPA Limited, which was incorporated to
carry on the office of Messrs. Patrick Ng & Company, as
auditors.

By Order of the Board
Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2008

Asian Dynamics International
L imi ted Aldgate
Agents Limited  Bonus Gain Limited

5%
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The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a
high standard of corporate governance. The Board recognizes
that such commitment is essential in upholding the
accountability and transparency and to achieve a balance of
interests between the shareholders, customers, creditors,
employees as well as other stakeholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE CODE

To ensure compl iance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules, the Board will continue to monitor
and revise the Company Code to bring our corporate
governance practices in l ine with the changes in the
environment and requirements of the Code.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with all the provisions of the Code, for the year ended 31
December 2007, except:

(i) under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing. The Company has set out in written
terms the responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer. However, Mr. Ho Wing Yiu
resigned as the chief executive officer with effect from 7
December 2006. Hence Mr. Xie Xuan, chairman of the
Company, takes up the responsibilities of the chief
executive officer until a replacement for the chief
executive officer is found. The Company considers that
under the supervision of its Board and its Independent
Non-executive Directors, a balancing mechanism exists
so that the interests of the shareholders are adequately
and fairly represented;

(ii) under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. None of the existing Non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific
term. This constitutes a deviation from the code
provision. However, all the Non-executive Directors of
the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings pursuant to the articles of
association of the Company;

15

(i) A.2.1

(ii) A.4.1
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(iii) code provision A.4.2 of the Code requires every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. According to the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest but not greater
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that the chairman of the board and/or the managing
director of the Company shall not, whilst holding such
office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to
retire in each year. As such, with the exception of the
chairman and the managing director, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation. The management of
the Company will strive to comply with all the provisions
of the Code by ensuring that the Directors will be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
in future;

(iv) under code provision E.1.2 of the Code, the chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general meeting
to answer questions at the annual general meeting. The
Chairman of the Company, Mr. Xie Xuan, had not
attended the Company’s annual general meeting for
2007 due to other business commitments.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with all
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2007.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf
of the shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is the
Directors’ responsibility to create value for the shareholders
as a whole and safeguard the best interests of the Company
and the shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated,
diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good faith.

(iii) A.4.2

(3) 

(iv) E.1.2

5.48 5.67

5.48
5.67
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The Board comprises a total of six Directors, with two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman) and Mr.
Yang Qiulin; one non-executive Director namely Mr. Lo Mun
Lam, Raymond (Vice-Chairman); three independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Wu Jixue, Mr. Yang Zhenhong
and Mr. Zhang Daorong.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional
meetings arranged when necessary, to review the financial
performance, results of each quarter, material investments and
other matters of the Group that require the resolution of the
Board. Simultaneous conference calls may be used to improve
attendance when an individual director cannot attend the
meeting in person.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent based on the annual
confirmations received.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee comprising
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang
Daorong, Mr. Wu Jixue and Mr. Yang Zhenhong, and has
adopted terms of reference governing the authorities and
duties of the audit committee. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal controls of the Group. The audit
committee has reviewed the draft of this report and has
provided advice and comments thereon.

5.09

5.28
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The attendance record of each member of the Board during
the year under review is set out below:

Number of
meetings attended/Number of

meetings held for the year ended
31 December 2007

Designation and Name
Board Audit Committee

Executive Directors
Xie Xuan (Chairman) 5/8 N/A 
Yang Qiulin 5/8 N/A 

Non-executive director
Lo Mun Lam, Raymond

(vice-chairman) 7/8 N/A 

Independent non-executive
Directors

Wu Jixue 7/8 4/4
Yang Zhenhong 6/8 4/4
Zhang Daorong 5/8 3/4

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services and non-audit
services provided by the auditors, Patrick Ng & Company, to
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted
to HK$700,000 and HK$0 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements and external auditors’ reporting
responsibilities as set out in the Auditors’ Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors have reviewed and are satisfied with their ability
to comply with the policies installed as part of the Group’s
internal control system, including, in particular, financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

700,000
0



Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited30

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Annual Report 2007

BREACHES OF THE GEM LISTING RULES

Breach of Rule 20.49 of the GEM Listing Rules:
Warning Letter

On 9 May 2007 the GEM Listing Division concluded that the
Company had breached Rule 20.49 of the Listing Rules by
failing to dispatch the circular dated 14 March 2007 (the
“Circular”) to the shareholders within the timeframe stipulated
in the GEM Listing Rules.

The facts of the case were that Rule 20.49 of the GEM Listing
Rules requires a listed issuer to send a circular to shareholders
within 21 days after publication of the announcement, unless
the Exchange directs otherwise. The relevant announcement
was published on 14 February 2007, however the Circular
was dispatched on 14 March 2007, resulting in a delay of 7
days.

Taking into account all relevant factors and circumstances of
the case, the Division decided that the breaches may fairly be
disposed of by way of a warning letter to the Company. The
Board has recognized the findings of the Division and will
endeavour in future to seek legal and compliance advice in
handling similar transactions.

20.49

20.49

20.49

21
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ASIAN CAPITAL RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited set out on pages
33 to 100, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibi l i ty includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibi l i ty is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making

33 100
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157,000,000
100%

3(a)(ii)

10,000,000

161-167
20

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Fundamental uncertainty

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. As set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company resolved and
was given approval by the independent shareholders on 14
March 2008 to acquire 100% equity interest of a media
company in the PRC at a consideration of HK$157 million.
The directors estimated that the new business operation would
generate sufficient working capital to support the group’s
operations as a going concern. Furthermore, as set out in
note 3(a) (ii) to the consolidated financial statements, the
ultimate holding company has also agreed to provide
continuous financial support to the Group and is prepared to
extend a loan to the group to the extent of HK$10,000,000.
We consider that adequate funds will be available for the Group
to meet its liabilities as they fall due and appropriate disclosures
have been made; our opinion is not qualified in this respect.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s loss
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PATRICK NG & COMPANY
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,
Hong Kong S.A.R., China

26 March 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Turnover (5) 168,397 281,510
Cost of services (155,085) (263,526)

Gross profit 13,312 17,984
Other revenue (5) 904 2,028
Administrative expenses (34,053) (38,189)

Loss from operations (7) (19,837) (18,177)

Finance costs (8) (312) (210)
Provision for impairment

on other receivables (29) — (34,593)

Loss before income tax expense (20,149) (52,980)

Income tax expense (11) — —

Loss for the year from
continuing operations (20,149) (52,980)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (12)
Profit for the year from

discontinued operations — 35,196

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (20,149) (17,784)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders

of the company (20,149) (17,071)
Minority interests — (713)

(20,149) (17,784)

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share: (13)
From continuing and

discontinued operations
— Basic  (3.62) (3.58)

— Diluted  N/A N/A 

From continuing operations
— Basic  (3.62) (10.97)

— Diluted  N/A N/A 

The notes on pages 39 to 100 form part of these financial
statements.

39 100
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Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment (14) 939 1,487
Development costs (16) — 88
Goodwill (17) — —

939 1,575

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables (19) 34,453 30,534
Cash and bank balances (20) 2,658 6,237

37,111 36,771

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft — unsecured   169 —
Trade and other payables (21) 43,327 38,761
Obligations under finance leases (22) 40 47

(43,536) (38,808)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (6,425) (2,037)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES (5,486) (462)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables (24) — 4,796
Obligations under finance leases (22) — 40
Amount due to a director (31) 6,256 5,503
Amount due to ultimate

holding company (31) 4,552 10,272

(10,808) (20,611)

NET LIABILITIES (16,294) (21,073)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital (25) 63,933 47,624
Reserves (26) (81,044) (69,514)

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the company (17,111) (21,890)

Minority interests 817 817

TOTAL DEFICIT (16,294) (21,073)

39 100

Xie Xuan Yang Qiulin
Director Director

The notes on pages 39 to 100 form part of these financial
statements.
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As at 31 December 2007

Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interests in subsidiaries (18) 391 1

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables (19) 41 —

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables (21) 3,007 1,091

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (2,966) (1,091)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES (2,575) (1,090)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amount due to a director (31) 390 —
Amount due to subsidiaries (31) 6,313 4,939
Amount due to holding company (31) 4,554 10,274

(11,257) (15,213)

NET LIABILITIES (13,832) (16,303)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital (25) 63,933 47,624

Reserves (26) (77,765) (63,927)

TOTAL DEFICIT (13,832) (16,303)

These financial statements were approved and authorized for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2008.

Xie Xuan Yang Qiulin
Director Director

The notes on pages 39 to 100 form part of these financial
statements.

39 100
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Issued Convertible

share Share Capital note Translation Accumulated Minority

capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 47,624 87,707 35,343 3,495 — (169,572) 4,597 1,530 6,127

Transfer — — — (3,495) — 3,495 — — —

Disposal of subsidiaries — — (9,323) — — — (9,323) — (9,323)

Loss for the year — — — — — (17,071) (17,071) (713) (17,784)

Exchange difference

on consolidation — — — — (93) — (93) — (93)

At 31 December 2006

and at 1 January 2007

47,624 87,707 26,020 — (93) (183,148) (21,890) 817 (21,073)

Issue of shares 16,309 9,301 25,610 — 25,610

Loss for the year — — — — — (20,149) (20,149) — (20,149)

Exchange difference

on consolidation — — — — (682) — (682) — (682)

At 31 December 2007

63,933 97,008 26,020 — (775) (203,297) (17,111) 817 (16,294)

The notes on pages 39 to 100 form part of these financial
statements.

39 100
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before income tax expense (20,149) (17,784)
Adjustments for:—

Interest income (45) (60)
Interest on convertible notes — 245
Other interest paid 312 210
Written off of unreconciled

inter-branch balances — 157
Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 760 1,899
Amortisation of land

lease premium — 71
Amortisation of

development costs 88 446
Impairment on goodwill 594 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of

property, plant and equipment 386 (32)
Impairment on trade receivables 6,043 51
Impairment on other receivables 305 —
Impairment on property, plant

and equipment 147 —
Provision for impairment

on other receivables — 34,593
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (29) — (37,351)
Exchange difference

on consolidation (790) (124)

Operating loss before changes
in working capital (12,349) (17,679)

(Increase)/decrease in
trade receivables (1,060) 681

(Increase)/decrease in
prepayment, deposits and
other receivables (9,205) 2,516

Increase in amount due
from related companies (2) —

(Decrease)/increase
in trade payables (2,281) 94

Increase in accruals and
other payables 4,821 685

(Decrease)/increase in
advances from customers (49) 1

Cash used in operations (20,125) (13,702)
Other interest paid (312) (210)

Net cash used in
operating activities (20,437) (13,912)
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Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 45 60
Payment to acquire

subsidiaries (30) (369) —
Payment to purchase property,

plant and equipment (527) (319)
Proceeds from disposal of

property, plant and equipment 55 51
Proceeds from disposal

of subsidiaries (29) — (12)

Net cash used in
investing activities (796) (220)

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of obligation
under finance leases (47) (56)

Advance from/ (repayment
to) directors 363 (3,387)

Advance from minority shareholders — 770
(Repayment to)/advance from

other payables (4,796) 4,796
(Repayment to)/advance from

ultimate holding company (5,720) 10,272
Advance from shareholders 2,075 —
Proceeds from issuance of

ordinary shares 25,610 —

Net cash generated from
financing activities 17,485 12,395

NET DECREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,748) (1,737)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR 6,237 7,974

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,489 6,237

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 2,658 6,237
Bank overdraft (169) —

2,489 6,237

The notes on pages 39 to 100 form part of these financial
statements.

39 100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2007

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted Company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

The principal activit ies of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are investment holdings,
provision of on-line content information and related
technical services, information technology solutions and
consultancy services, educational content services and
logistic services. There were no significant changes in
the nature of its principal activities during the year.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company is Asian Dynamics International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of
new standards, amendment and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are relevant to
its operations and are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The adoption of
the new HKFRSs has no significant effect on the Group’s
accounting policies and amounts reported for the current
and prior accounting periods in these f inancial
statements.

1.

Asian Dynamics International Limited

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards or interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The directors anticipate
that the appl icat ion of these new standards or
interpretations will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.

HKAS 1 (Revised) P r e s e n t a t i o n  o f  F i n a n c i a l
Statements(4)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs (4)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments (4)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2-Group and Treasury
Share Transactions (1)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements (2)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (3)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction
(2)

(1) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March
2007

(2) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2008

(3) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2008

(4) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009

2.

(4)

1

(4)

23

(4)

8

2   
(1)

11
(2)

12
(3)

13
19

 

14 (2)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group is set out below.

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with al l
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”), which includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certif ied Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The measurement  bas is  used in  the
preparation of the financial statements is the
historical cost basis.

(ii) Going concern
The Group incurred significant losses for each
of the two years ended 31 December 2007.
Nevertheless, the directors have adopted the
going concern basis in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements on the
ground that the ultimate holding company has
agreed to provide continuing financial support
to the Group and is prepared to extend a loan
to the group to the extent of HK$10,000,000
to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The directors are of the view that the above
measures will enable the Group to continue
as a going concern and that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. Accordingly, the directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on the
going concern basis.

3.

(a)

(i)

(ii)

10,000,000
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2007. The results
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are consolidated from or to their effective dates
of acquisition or disposal, respectively. Minority
interest represents the interests of the outside
shareholders in the results and net assets of the
Company’s subsidiaries.

All significant intercompany transactions and
balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

The gain or loss on disposal of subsidiary
represents the difference between the proceeds
of the sales and the Group’s share of its net assets
together with any unauthorised goodwill or negative
goodwill and which was not previously charged or
recognised in the income statement.

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.
Control exists when the Company has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

3.

(b)

(c)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Related party transactions

A party is related to the Group if:

a. directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party:

(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with the Group;

(ii) has an interest in the Group that gives
it significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) has joint control over the Group;

b. the party is a joint venture in which the entity
is a venture;

c. the party is an associate;

d. the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group;

e. the party is a close member of the family of
any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

f. the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

g. the party is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of the Group, or
of any entity that is a related party of the
Group.

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings
with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources
or obligations between related parties.

3.

(d)

a.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

b.

c.

d.

e. a d

f.
d e

g.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill arising from an acquisition of a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
identif iable assets, l iabil it ies and contingent
liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising from an acquisition of
an associate or a jointly controlled entity represents
the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
Group’s share of the relevant associate’s or jointly
controlled entity’s net assets at the date of
acquisition.

Capitalised goodwill is presented separately in the
consolidated balance sheet and is carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of
the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwil l has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwi l l  ar is ing from an
acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the
unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an
associate or a joint ly control led entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal.

3.

(e)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

(i) Impairment of trade and other
receivables

At each balance sheet date, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its trade and
other receivables to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; and

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade debtors included in trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade debtors directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amount previously
written off directly are recognised in income
statement.

3.

(f)

(i)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external resources of information
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired, an impairment loss
previously recognized no longer exists or may
have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other
than properties carried at revalued
amount);

— development costs; and

— investment in subsidiaries

If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sel l  and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a
reva lued amount ,  in  wh ich case the
impairment loss is treated as revaluation
decrease.

3.

(f)

(ii)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Cont’d)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal
o f  an impai rment  loss is  recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
l ess  accumu la ted  deprec ia t ion  and  any
impairments losses. The cost of assets comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the asset has been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where it can be
clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure
is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

3.

(f)

(ii)

(g)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings : 2% (over the remaining
lease term)

Leasehold : 33% or over the lease
improvement te rms,  wh ichever  i s

shorter

Furniture and fixtures : 20%

Computer and : 33%
equipment

Motor vehicles : 33%

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of a
property, plant and equipment recognised in the
income statement is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

(h) Land lease premium

Land lease premium is stated at cost less
amortisation and any identified impairment loss.
The cost of land lease premium is amortised over
the period of the premium using the straight-line
method.

(i) Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and defined only when the
projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is
separately identifiable and can be measured
reliably; there is reasonable certainty that the
projects are technically feasible; and the products
have commercial value. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expended when incurred.

3.

(g)

2%

33%

20%

33%

33%

(h)

(i)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Research and development costs (Cont’d)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised, using
the straight-line method, over the expected useful
lives of the underlying products subject to a
maximum period of three years, commencing from
the date when the products are available for use.

The unamortised balance of development costs is
reviewed at the end of each year and is written off
to the extent that the unamortised balance, taken
together with further development and directly
related costs, is no longer likely to be recovered.

(j) Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for
investments in debt and equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at cost, which is their transaction price
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated
using valuation techniques whose variables include
only data from observable markets. Cost includes
attributable transaction costs, except where
indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss
as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the
Company have the positive ability and intention to
hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity
securities. Held-to-maturity securities are stated in
the balance sheet at  amort ised cost less
impairment losses.

3.

(i)

(j)

/
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(j) Other investments in debt and equity
securities (Cont’d)

Investment in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be rel iably measured are
recognised in the balance sheet at cost less
impairment losses.

Investments in securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sales securities. At each balance sheet date the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or
loss being recognised directly in equity, except for
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and
losses in respect of monetary items such as debt
securities, are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in profit or loss. When these
investments are derecognised or impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.

(k) Financial liabilities

(i) Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to
share capital at the option of the holder, where
the number of shares issued does not vary
with changes in their fair value, are accounted
for as compound financial instruments.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a
compound financial instrument are allocated
to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The
equity component of the convertible notes is
calculated as the excess of the issue
proceeds over the present value of the future
interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable to
similar liabilities that do not have a conversion
option. The interest expense recognised in
the income statement is calculated using the
effective interest rate method.

3.

(j)

/

/

(k)

(i)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k) Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

(ii) Other financial liabilities

Financial l iabil it ies, other than financial
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
and financial guarantee contracts, are carried
at amortised cost.

(l) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less impairment losses for the bad and doubtful
debts, except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are
stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discount ing would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Government grant

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that  they are in tended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of
property, plant and equipment are included in non-
current liabilities as deferred government grants
and are credited to the consolidated income
statement on the straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

3.

(k)

(ii)

(l)

(m)

(n)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o) Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabil it ies unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

(p) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or
loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s general policy on
borrowing costs.

3.

(o)

(p)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p) Leases (Cont’d)

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

(r) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

3.

(p)

(q)

(r)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r) Income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consol idated f inancial  statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet l iabil ity method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged
or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

3.

(r)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(i) From the provision of content information, on
a time proportion basis for the fixed license
fee portion and as entitlement accrues on
usage for the variable license fee portion.

(ii) From the provision of project consultancy
serv ices ,  in te rnet  so lu t ion  serv ices ,
educational content services and logistic
services, in accordance with the terms of the
underlying contracts and when the underlying
services are rendered.

(iii) Interest income from bank deposits is
recognised on a time-apportioned basis that
takes into account the effective yield on the
assets.

Advance payments received from customers prior
to rendering of related content information services
and internet solution services are recorded as
receipts in advance.

Revenue is recorded net of sales surtaxes, where
applicable.

(t) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

3.

(s)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(t)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(t) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabil it ies denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation difference on non-monetary
items, such as equities classified as available-for-
sale financial assets, are included in the fair value
reserve in equity.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group’s
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are t rans lat ion at  average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
a re  t r ans l a t ed  a t  t he  da tes  o f  t he
transactions); and

3.

(t)

(i)

(ii)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(t) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

Group companies (Cont’d)

(iii) a l l  result ing exchange di fferences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

(u) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

3.

(t)

(iii)

(u)

(i)



Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited58

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Annual Report 2007

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(ii) Retirement benefits schemes

The Company’s PRC subsidiaries participate
in defined contribution retirement schemes
organised by the local government authorities
in the PRC. All of the PRC employees are
entitled to an annual pension equivalent to a
fixed portion of their basic salaries at their
retirement dates. The Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage ranged from 11% to 15% of the
basic salaries of their PRC employees to the
retirement schemes and have no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits. The
contributions are charged to the consolidated
income statement of the Group as they
become payable in accordance with the rules
of scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory  Prov ident  Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the consolidated income
statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

3.

(u)

(ii)

11% 15%
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(iii) Share option scheme

The fair value of the share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at
grant date, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet
vest ing  cond i t ions  be fore  becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into accounting the probability that the
options will vest.

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attr ibutable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(w) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows
of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest
of the Group and which represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of
business or geographical area of operations, or is
part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation is abandoned.

3.

(u)

(iii)

(v)

(w)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Discontinued operations (Cont’d)

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
income statement, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constitut ing the discontinued
operation.

(x) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segment), or in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting
format and geographical segment information as
the secondary reporting format for the purposes
of these consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and
liabilities include items directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on
a reasonable basis to that segment. For example,
segment assets may include inventories, trade
receivables and property, plant and equipment.
Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that
such intra-group balances and transactions are
between group entities within a single segment.
Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as
those available to other external parties.

3.

(w)

(x)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(x) Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and
corporate assets,  in terest-bear ing loans,
borrowing, tax balances, corporate and financing
expenses.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes est imates and assumpt ions
concerning the future. The result ing accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below:

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful l ives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change signif icantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charges where useful lives are less
than previously technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

3.

(x)

4.

(a)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Estimated provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables

The Group makes provision for doubtful debts
based on an assessment of the recoverability of
trade receivables and other receivables. Provisions
are appl ied to trade receivables and other
rece ivab les  where  events  or  changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts
requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact carrying value
of receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.

(c) Estimated impairment on goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the fair value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

4.

(b)

(c)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Estimated income taxes

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses carried forward to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised,
based on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the future
performance of the particular legal entity or tax
group in which the deferred tax asset has been
recognised. A variety of other factors are also
evaluated in consider ing whether there is
convincing evidence that it is probable that some
portion or all or the deferred tax assets wil l
ultimately be realised, such as the existence of
taxable temporary differences, tax planning
strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets and related financial models
and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and to the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits
will be available within the utilisation periods to allow
utilisation of the carry forward tax losses, the asset
balance will be reduced and charged to the income
statement.

The Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred
tax assets at each balance sheet dated and
reduces the amount to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. This requires an estimation of the
future taxable profits, Estimating the future taxable
profits requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future earnings from the Group and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of the present value of
the earnings.

4.

(d)
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5. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE

Turnover represents (1) project fees from the provision
of project consultancy services; (2) distribution fees from
the provision of content information; (3) service fees from
the provision of internet solution services; (4) service fees
from the provision of educational content services; and
(5) service fees from the provision of logistics services
and excludes intra-Group transactions as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover

Continuing operations:
Content solution service and

business consultation
— project fees  204 204
— distribution fees  731 765

Internet solution service fees 41 461
Logistics service fees 167,421 280,080

168,397 281,510

Discontinued operations:
Educational content

service fees — 22

168,397 281,532

Other revenue

Continuing operations:
Other income 859 1,968
Interest income 45 60

904 2,028

Discontinued operations:
Other income — 454

904 2,482

5.

(1)
(2) (3)

(4)
(5)
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

(a) Primary reporting format — business
segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organized into three operating divisions:

(i) t he  con ten t  so l u t i on  and  bus i ness
consultation

(ii) the IT enabling technology

(iii) the logistics services

The Group disposed its educational content
services business in the year 2006.

An analysis of the Group’s results by business
segment is as follows:

2007

HK$’000

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Content
solution Educational

and business IT enabling Logistics content
consultation technology services Total services Consolidated

Turnover
Sales to external

customers 935 41 167,421 168,397 — 168,397

Results
Segment results (501 ) (1,130 ) (2,101 ) (3,732 ) — (3,732 )

Interest income 45 — 45
Unallocated

corporate
expenses (9,269 ) — (9,269 )

Loss from
operations (12,956 ) — (12,956 )

Finance costs (312 ) — (312 )
Loss on disposal

of property,
plant and
equipment (386 ) — (386 )

Impairment
on trade
receivables (6,043 ) — (6,043 )

Impairment
on other
receivables (305 ) — (305 )

Impairment on
property, plant
and equipment (147 ) — (147 )

Loss before
income
tax expense (20,149 ) — (20,149 )

Income
tax expense — — —

Loss for the year
(20,149 ) — (20,149 )

6.

(a)   

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Primary reporting format — business
segments (Cont’d)

2007

HK$’000

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Content
solution Educational

and business IT enabling Logistics content
consultation technology services Total services Consolidated

Assets
Segment assets 470 340 26,982 27,792 — 27,792

Unallocated
corporate assets 10,258 — 10,258

Total assets 38,050 — 38,050

Liabilities
Segment liabilities (64 ) (201 ) (36,750 ) (37,015 ) — (37,015 )

Unallocated
corporate
liabilities (17,329 ) — (17,329 )

Total liabilities (54,344 ) — (54,344 )

2007

HK$’000

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Content
solution Educational

and business IT enabling Logistics content
consultation technology services Other Total services Consolidated

Other segment
information
Capital

expenditure — — 350 342 692 — 692
Amortisation

of land lease
premium — — — — — — —

Depreciation of
property, plant
and equipment — 5 — 755 760 — 760

Amortisation
of development
cost — 88 — — 88 — 88

Impairment
on goodwill — — — 594 594 — 594

Impairment
on trade
receivables — — 6,043 — 6,043 — 6,043

Impairment
on other
receivables — — 305 — 305 — 305

Impairment on
property, plant
and equipment — — 147 — 147 — 147

6.

(a)   
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Primary reporting format — business
segments (Cont’d)

2006

HK$’000

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Content
solution Educational

and business IT enabling Logistics content
consultation technology services Total services Consolidated

Turnover
Sales to external

customers 969 461 280,080 281,510 22 281,532

Results
Segment results 677 437 16,848 17,962 22 17,984

Interest income 60 — 60
Unallocated

corporate
expenses (36,199 ) (981 ) (37,180 )

Loss from
operations (18,177 ) (959 ) (19,136 )

Finance costs (210 ) (1,196 ) (1,406 )
Provision for

impairment on
other receivables (34,593 ) — (34,593 )

(52,980 ) (2,155 ) (55,135 )

Gain on disposal
of operations — 37,351 37,351

(Loss)/profit
before income
tax expense (52,980 ) 35,196 (17,784 )

Income tax
expense — — —

(Loss)/profit
for the year

(52,980 ) 35,196 (17,784 )

Assets
Segment assets 610 61 34,995 35,666 — 35,666

Unallocated
corporate assets

2,680 — 2,680

Total assets 38,346 — 38,346

Liabilities
Segment liabilities (663 ) (93 ) (35,014 ) (35,770 ) — (35,770)

Unallocated
corporate
liabilities (23,649 ) — (23,649 )

Total liabilities (59,419 ) — (59,419 )

6.

(a)   



Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited68

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Annual Report 2007

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Primary reporting format — business
segments (Cont’d)

2006

HK$’000

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Content
solution Educational

and business IT enabling Logistics content
consultation technology services Total services Consolidated

Other segment
information

Capital expenditure 178 8 276 462 — 462
Amortisation of

land lease
premium — — — — 71 71

Depreciation of
property, plant
and equipment 304 9 738 1,051 848 1,899

Amortisation of
development cost 446 — 446 — 446

Impairment on
goodwill — — — — — —

Impairment on
trade receivables

— — 51 51 — 51
Impairment on

other receivables — — — — — —
Impairment on

property, plant
and equipment — — — — — —

(b) Primary reporting format — geographical
segments

An analysis of the Group’s results by geographical
segment is as follows:

2007

HK$’000

Segment Segment Capital
Turnover results assets expenditure

Hong Kong 976 (11,406) 6,025 170

PRC 167,421 (8,743) 32,025 522

USA and Others — — — —

6.

(a)   

(b)



69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2007
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(b) Primary reporting format — geographical
segments (Cont’d)

2006

HK$’000

Segment Segment Capital
Turnover results assets expenditure

Hong Kong 9,772 (12,258) 5,610 186

PRC 250,436 (4,251) 28,232 276

USA and Others 21,324 (1,275) 4,504 —

Revenue from the Group’s discontinued operations
was derived mainly from the PRC and Hong Kong.

7. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

The Group’s loss from operations is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of services 155,085 263,526 — — 155,085 263,526
Staff costs (excluding

directors’ remuneration)

— Wages and salaries  11,725 18,059 — — 11,725 18,059
— Retirement benefits  

scheme contributions 1,165 1,439 — — 1,165 1,439
Auditors’ remuneration 769 810 — 35 769 845
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 760 1,051 — 848 760 1,899
Amortisation of

land lease premium — — — 71 — 71
Amortisation of

development costs 88 446 — — 88 446
Written off of unreconciled

inter-branch balance
— 157 — — — 157

Impairment on
trade receivables 6,043 51 — — 6,043 51

Impairment on
other receivables 305 — — — 305 —

Impairment on property,
plant and equipment 147 — — — 147 —

Provision for impairment
on other receivables — 34,593 — — — 34,593

Impairment on goodwill 594 — — — 594 —
Loss on disposal of

property, plant
and equipment (386) (32) — — (386) (32)

Operating lease rentals
in respect of land
and buildings 3,022 3,642 — — 3,022 3,642

Legal fees — 1,326 — 242 — 1,568
Net exchange loss 385 293 — — 385 293

6.

(b)

7.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other interest 312 210 — — 312 210
Interest on

convertible notes — — — 1,196 — 1,196

312 210 — 1,196 312 1,406

9. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
def ined contr ibut ion scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF scheme, each of
the Group’s employees makes monthly contribution to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earning as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation, subject
to a cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF scheme was approximately HK$128,000
(2006: HK$241,000).

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the subsidiaries and representative offices in the PRC
are required to contribute to a state-sponsored
retirement plan for their employees in the PRC. According
to the rules prevailing in the PRC, the Group is required
to contribute approximately 11% to 15% of the basic
salary of its employees in the PRC, and has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-
retirement benefits. The stated-sponsored retirement
plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to retired employees. For the year ended 31
December 2007, approximately HK$1,037,000 (2006:
HK$1,210,000) was paid by the Group with respect to
such retirement plan.

8.

9.

5%
1,000

128,000
241,000

11% 15%

1 , 0 3 7 , 0 0 0
1,210,000
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ remuneration

The details of emoluments of every Director are
shown below:

Year ended 31 December 2007

Basic salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share option

and scheme based
other benefits contribution payment

Fees Total
Name of Director

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Xie Xuan 540 — — — 540

Lo Mun Lam, Raymond 24 — — — 24

Wu Jixue 30 — — — 30

Yang Qiulin — — — — —

Yang Zhenhong 18 — — — 18

Zhang Daorong 48 — — — 48

660 — — — 660

10.

(a)
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Cont’d)

Year ended 31 December 2006

Basic salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share option

and scheme based
other benefits contribution payment

Fees Total
Name of Director

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Xie Xuan — 990 — — 990

Ho Wing Yiu (Note 1) 1 — 984 12 — 996

Law Shiu Kai, Andrew (Note 2) 2 — 2 — — 2

Lo Mun Lam, Raymond — 24 — — 24

Wu Jixue — 30 — — 30

Yang Qiulin (Note 3) 3 — — — — —

Yang Zhenhong — 18 — — 18

Zhang Daorong — 48 — — 48

— 2,096 12 — 2,108

Note:

1. Resigned on 7 December 2006

2. Ceased on 26 January 2006

3. Appointed on 20 December 2006

10.

(a)

1.

2.

3.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year
included one (2006: two) executive directors whose
remuneration are set out in directors’ remuneration
in (a) above. Details of remuneration of the
remaining four (2006: three) employees are as
follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, allowances
and other benefits 1,514 1,557

Retirement benefits
scheme contributions 40 24

Share option based payment
— —

1,554 1,581

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of highest
paid individuals

2007 2006

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 4 3

There were no emoluments paid by the Group to
the employees as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the year (2006: Nil).

10.

(b)

a
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a) Income tax expense in the consolidated
income statement represents:

Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current:
Hong Kong profits tax — — — — — —
PRC income tax — — — — — —

— — — — — —

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided (2006:
Nil) as the Group has no assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. The statutory tax
rate for Hong Kong profits tax is 17.5% (2006:
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the
statutory corporate income tax rates applicable to
the subsidiaries established and operating in the
PRC ranged from 15% to 33% (2006: 15% to 33%).

11.

(a)

1 7 . 5 %
17.5%

15% 33%
15% 33%
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(b) A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable
to the Group’s loss before income tax expense
using the statutory rates for the countries in which
the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to
the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax rates are
as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax expense
— Continuing operations  (20,149) (52,980)
— Discontinued operations  — 35,196

(20,149) (17,784)

Tax credit calculated at Hong Kong 17.5%
profits tax rate of 17.5% (3,067) (3,112)

Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries operating in
other jurisdictions (865) 1,709

Income not subject to tax (705) (4,380)
Expenses not deductible

for tax purposes 841 4,659
Utilisation of previously

unrecognised tax losses — (110)
Unrecognised temporary

differences and tax losses 3,796 1,234

Income tax charge for the year — —

(c) At 31 December 2007, the Group had tax losses
a r i s i ng  i n  Hong  Kong  o f  app rox ima te l y
HK$22,226,000 (2006: HK$21,944,000) that were
available for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Such losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.

11.

(b)

(c)

22,226,000
21,944,000
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Disposal of the educational content business

On 13 September 2005, the Group entered into a sale
agreement to dispose of the entire interest in Eleson Inc.,
Cyber Strategy Limited, Lecture Kit Company Limited,
China Cyber University Limited, Union Resources
(Educational Development) Limited, Asian Educational
Services Limited, Sinotrade Technologies Limited,
Comfirm (China) Limited, 
and ( )  (the “Disposed
Group”), each of which was either an indirectly wholly-
owned or a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
The disposal was completed on 23 May 2006.

The result of the discontinued operations was included
in the 2006 consolidated income statement as follows:—

Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year from
discontinued operations

Revenue — 476
Expenses — (2,631)

Loss from operations
before income tax expense (7) — (2,155)

Income tax expense — —

— (2,155)
Gain on disposal of operations (29) — 37,351

Profit for the year from
discontinued operations — 35,196

12.

Eleson Inc.

A s i a n
Educational Services Limited
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations:—

(a) The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the Group’s loss attributable to shareholders of
a p p ro x i m a t e l y  H K $  2 0 , 1 4 9 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 0 6 :
HK$17,071,000) and the weighted average number
of 556,080,886 shares (2006: 476,237,105 shares)
in issue during the year.

(b) No diluted loss per share is presented as there are
no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for
each of the year ended 31 December 2007 and
2006.

From continuing operations:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss attributable to equity
holders of the company 20,149 17,071

Add: Profit for the year from
discontinued operations — 35,196

Loss for the purpose of
basic loss per share 20,149 52,267

13.

(a)
20,149,000
17,071,000

556,080,886
476,237,105

(b)

(a) The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the Group’s loss attributable to shareholders of
approximately HK$20,149,000 (2006: HK$52,267,000)
and the weighted average number of 556,080,886
shares (2006: 476,237,105 shares) in issue during the
year.

(b) No diluted loss per share is presented as there are
no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for
each of the year ended 31 December 2007 and
2006.

(a)
20,149,000
52,267,000

556,080,886
476,237,105

(b)



Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited78

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual Report 2007

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Furniture Computer Motor

Buildings improvement and fixtures and equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2006 38,006 1,207 898 3,835 806 44,752
Additions — — 19 220 223 462
Disposal / write off — — (12 ) — (198 ) (210 )
Disposal of subsidiaries (38,006 ) — — (87 ) — (38,093 )
Exchange difference — 6 11 42 11 70

At 31 December 2006 and
at 1 January 2007

— 1,213 916 4,010 842 6,981
Additions — 351 50 126 — 527
Acquisition of subsidiaries — — — 27 138 165
Disposal / write off — (772 ) (157 ) (242 ) (71 ) (1,242 )
Impairment loss — — (58 ) (139 ) — (197 )
Exchange difference — 32 72 276 48 428

At 31 December 2007
— 824 823 4,058 957 6,662

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses:
At 1 January 2006 8,499 521 506 2,988 667 13,181
Charge for the year 848 199 140 479 233 1,899
Disposal / write off — — (6 ) — (185 ) (191 )
Disposal of subsidiaries (9,347 ) — — (87 ) — (9,434 )
Exchange difference — 2 6 23 8 39

At 31 December 2006
and at 1 January 2007

— 722 646 3,403 723 5,494
Charge for the year — 143 108 394 115 760
Disposal / write off — (405 ) (120 ) (220 ) (71 ) (816 )
Impairment loss — — (9 ) (36 ) — (45 )
Exchange difference — 21 50 212 47 330

At 31 December 2007
— 481 675 3,753 814 5,723

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2007

— 343 148 305 143 939

At 31 December 2006
— 491 270 607 119 1,487

14.

The Group’s land and buildings located in the PRC were
disposed of in the year 2006.

At the balance sheet date, the net carrying amount of
motor vehic les held under f inance leases was
HK$48,000 (2006: HK$95,000).

48,000
95,000
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15. LAND LEASE PREMIUM

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 January — 7,741
Disposal of subsidiaries — (7,741)

At 31 December — —

Accumulated amortization:
At 1 January — 453
Amortisation for the year — 71
Disposal of subsidiaries — (524)

At 31 December — —

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December — —

The Group’s interests in land lease premium held in the
PRC under operating lease were disposed of in the year
2006.

15.
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16. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December

1,352 1,352

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 1,264 818
Amortisation for the year 88 446

At 31 December 1,352 1,264

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December — 88

The amount represents direct development costs
incurred for the development of “Advanced Distribution
and Transportation Systems” less government grant, and
is amortised on a straight-line basis over three years.

17. GOODWILL

The amount of goodwill capitalized as assets in the
consolidated balance sheet, arising from the acquisition
of Ever-OK International Forwarding Co., Ltd. in 2004
and Vega International Group Limited in 2007 is as
follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 4,944 4,944
Additions 594 —

At 31 December 5,538 4,944

Accumulated impairment losses:
At 1 January 4,944 4,944
Impairment 594 —

At 31 December 5,538 4,944

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December — —

16.

17.

Vega
International Group Limited
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 14,473 14,083
Due from subsidiaries 151,253 131,157

165,726 145,240
Less: Impairment losses (165,335) (145,239)

391 1

Amounts due from subsidiar ies are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets
and liabilities of the Group.

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of Issued and fully Group’s
incorporation and paid share capital/ effective Held by Held by a
operation registered capital interest the company subsidiary

Name Principal activity

Advant Development Limited The British Virgin Islands US$10 60% — 60% Investment holding
10

AIR Logistics International The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% — 100% Holding of trademarks
Holdings Limited 1

AIR Logistics International Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% — 100% Provision of
1 consulting administrative

and management
services

Asian Information Resources The British Virgin Islands US$200 100% 100% — Investment holding
(BVI) Limited 200

Asian Information Resources Limited Hong Kong HK$11,228,290 100% — 100% Provision of on-line content
11,228,290 and related technical

services, information
 technology solutions
and consultancy services
and e-commerce
investments

18.
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of Issued and fully Group’s
incorporation and paid share capital/ effective Held by Held by a
operation registered capital interest the company subsidiary

Name Principal activity

Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$2 100% — 100% Provision of treasury
Finance Limited 2 functions to group

companies

Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$2 100% — 100% Provision of administration
Investment Limited 2 services to

group companies

Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — 100% Provision of on-line
Marketing Limited 10,000 content and related

technical services

Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$5,000 100% — 100% Provision of software
TechLogic Limited 5,000 solutions services

Ever-OK International The PRC RMB17,300,000 60% — 60% Provision of air and
Forwarding Co., Ltd. 17,300,000 ocean freight services

Ever-OK International Forwarding Hong Kong HK$200,000 60% — 60% Provision of air and ocean
Co., Limited 200,000 freight services

Ever-OK International The United States US$200,000 60% — 60% Provision of air and
Forwarding Co., Ltd. of America 200,000 ocean freight services

Forest Technology Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — 100% Provision of internet
International Limited 10,000 solution services

Myhome Network Limited Hong Kong HK$900,000 77.78% — 77.78% Investment holding
900,000

Vega International Group Ltd. The British Virgin Islands US$5 100% 100% — Provision of corporate
5 finance and

management
consultancy services

Vega Capital Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% — 100% Provision of corporate
10,000,000 finance and

management
consultancy services

18.
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Notes:

(a) Asian Information Resources (BVI) Limited (“AIR BVI”)
and Vega International Group Limited are directly held
by the Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company through AIR BVI.

(b) Ever-OK International Forwarding Co., Limited is a jointly
foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC for a
term of 20 years up to 2024.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2007 (2006: Nil).

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

Note 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 21,811 26,794 — —
Prepayments,

deposits and
other receivables 12,622 3,722 41 —

Amount due from
related companies (31) 20 18 — —

34,453 30,534 41 —

The credit terms granted by the Group to a customer
are determined on a case-by-case basis with reference
to the size of sales contracts, recurrent sales with the
customers and their credit history. The Group makes
provision for trade receivables based on specific review.
Provision is made against trade receivables after
considering the amount due, creditability of customers
and other qualitative factors.

18.

(a) Asian Information Resources (BVI)
L i m i t e d A I R  B V I V e g a
International Group Limited

AIR BVI

(b)

19.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group
as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Outstanding balances aged:
0 to 30 days 0 30 3,947 15,048
31 to 60 days 31 60 1,708 6,554
61 to 90 days 61 90 452 2,631
91 to 150 days 91 150 1,278 1,017
Over 150 days 150 20,469 1,595

27,854 26,845

Less: Impairment losses 6,043 51

21,811 26,794

Included in trade receivables are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:

2007 2006

’000 ’000

Renminbi RMB16,925 RMB3,714
United States dollars USD341 USD2,935
Euro — EURO5

19.
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and in hand 2,658 6,237

Included in cash and bank balances in the balance sheet
are the following amounts denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate:

2007 2006

’000 ’000

Renminbi RMB1,306 RMB1,826
United States dollars USD93 USD550
Singapore SGD1 SGD1
Taiwan NTD7 NTD7

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

Note 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 26,833 29,114 — —
Accruals and

other payables (31) 14,245 9,424 932 1,091
Advances

from customers 174 223 — —
Amount due to

shareholders 2,075 — 2,075 —

43,327 38,761 3,007 1,091

20.

21.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group
as at the balance sheet date, based on the date of
completion of services provided by the suppliers to the
Group is as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Outstanding balances aged:
0 to 30 days 0 30 2,871 16,200
31 to 60 days 31 60 1,396 8,394
61 to 90 days 61 90 552 2,653
91 to 150 days 91 150 728 767
Over 150 days 150 21,286 1,100

26,833 29,114

2007 2006

’000 ’000

Renminbi RMB15,223 RMB10,298
United Stated dollars USD1,219 USD2,377
Euro EURO1 EURO15

21.
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22. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At 31 December 2007, the group had obligations under
finance leases repayable as follows:

2007 2006

Present value Present value
of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 40 47 47 52

After 1 year but
within 2 years — — 40 46

40 47 87 98

Less: total future
interest expenses 7 11

Present value of
lease obligations 40 87

23. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The convertible notes recognised in the balance sheet
is calculated as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January — 20,405
Interest expense — 1,196
Derecognised — (21,601)

At 31 December — —

All convertible notes were issued by a subsidiary of the
Group and were derecognised upon disposal of the
subsidiary by the Group in the year 2006.

22.

23.
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24. OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables represent amount due to an ex-director
of the Company. At the balance sheet date, the amount
due is unsecured, non-interest bearing and is not due
for repayment within the next twelve months.

25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares Amount

HK$’000

Authorised:
Balance at 1/1/2006, 31/12/2006,

and at 31/12/2007

2,000,000,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 0.1

Balance at 1/1/2006, 31/12/2006
and at 1/1/2007

476,237,105 47,624

Issue of shares 163,098,313 16,309

Balance at 31 December 2007
639,335,418 63,933

24.

12

25.

Note:

(i) 91,000,000 shares were allotted to Asian Dynamics
International Limited at a subscription price of HK$0.1
per share on 12 April 2007 pursuant to subscription
agreement dated 12 February 2007.

(ii) 25,014,820 shares, 35,860,262 shares and 11,223,231
shares were allotted to United Hill Investments Limited,
Bonus Gain Limited and Always Fast International Limited
respectively at a subscription price of HK$0.229 per
share on 22 October 2007 pursuant to subscription
agreement dated 5 September 2007.

(i)
91,000,000

0.1
A s i a n  D y n a m i c s

International Limited.

(ii)
25,014,820 35,860,262

11,223,231
0.229

Un i ted H i l l
Investments Limited Bonus Gain
Limited Always Fast International
Limited.
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26. RESERVES

Group
Share Capital Convertible Translation Accumulated

premium reserve note reserve reserve losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 87,707 35,343 3,495 — (169,572) (43,027)

Transfer — — (3,495) — 3,495 —

Disposal of subsidiaries — (9,323) — — — (9,323)

Loss for the year — — — — (17,071) (17,071)

Exchange difference
on consolidation — — — (93) — (93)

At 31 December 2006 and
at 1 January 2007

87,707 26,020 — (93) (183,148) (69,514)

Issue of shares 9,301 — — — — 9,301

Loss for the year — — — — (20,149) (20,149)

Exchange difference
on consolidation — — — (682) — (682)

At 31 December 2007 97,008 26,020 — (775) (203,297) (81,044)

Company

Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus loss Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2006 87,707 13,882 (157,302) (55,713)
Loss for the year — — (8,214) (8,214)

As at 31 December 2006
and at 1 January 2007

87,707 13,882 (165,516) (63,927)

Issue of shares 9,301 — — 9,301

Loss for the year — — (23,139) (23,139)

As at 31 December 2007
97,008 13,882 (188,655) (77,765)

26.
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26. RESERVES (Cont’d)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
different between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the net asset value
of a subsidiary acquired through and exchange of shares
as at the date of the group reorganization.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium, capital redemption reserve and
contributed surplus are distributable to shareholders,
subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
share premium, capital redemption reserve and
contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or

(ii) the realizable value of its assets would thereby less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital account.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued
by the Company and the aggregate if the share capital
and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through and
exchange of shares as at the date of the group
reorganization and the waiver of loans by a related party
on 1 February 2004.

All the reserves of the Group are attributable to the
Company and its subsidiaries.

26.

(i)

(ii)
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27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases its office property, staff quarter and
motor vehicle under operating lease arrangements.
Lease for property is negotiated for terms for one to
four years.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had future
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease in respect of office property,
staff quarter and motor vehicle as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 2,121 432
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

1,613 566

3,734 998

28. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has an employee share option scheme,
under which it may grant options to employees of the
Group (including executive directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 10% of the nominal value of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time, excluding for
this purpose shares issued on exercise of options. The
subscription price will be determined by a duly authorized
committee of the Board of Directors which consists of
all the independent non-executive directors of the
Company from time to time. The subscription price will
not be less than (a) the closing price of the shares quoted
on GEM on the date of offer of the options or (b) the
average of the closing prices of the shares quoted on
GEM for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the options, whichever is the higher,
provided that the subscription price will not be lower
than the nominal value of the shares.

No share options were granted to employees of the
Group during the year and no employee share options
were outstanding at the beginning and end of the year.

27.

28.

10%

a

b
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group discontinued its educational content services
business operations at the time of disposal of its
subsidiaries as set out in note (12). Details of disposal
of subsidiaries in year 2006 are as follows:

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 28,659
Land lease premium 7,217
Prepayment, deposits and

other receivables 115
Cash and bank balances 62
Accrual and other payables (796)
Amount due to holding company (33,991)
Amount due to minority shareholders (5,638)
Convertible note (20,650)
Tax payable (2,956)

(27,978)

Release of capital reserve (9,323)

(37,301)

Gain on disposal 37,351

Total consideration 50

Satisfied by:

Cash 50

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 50
Cash and bank balances disposal of (62)

(12)

Note: Provision for impairment on amounts due from the
disposed subsidiaries of approximately HK$34,593,000
was charged to consolidated income statement in the
year 2006.

29.

12

34,593,000
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 February 2007, the Company acquired 100% equity
interest in Vega International Group Limited, which holds
100% equity interest in Vega Capital Limited, for a cash
consideration of US$50,000. Details of acquisition are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 14
February 2007.

HK$’000

Net liabilities acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 165
Cash and bank balances 21
Amount due to a director (390)

(204)

Less: Cash consideration (390)

Goodwill on acquisition (594)

Net cash outflow for acquiring
interest in subsidiaries:

Cash and bank acquired 21
Cash consideration (390)

(369)

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(i) Amount due from related companies included in
trade and other receivables is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and has no fixed repayment terms.

(ii) Amount due to minority shareholder of a subsidiary,
China Collections Limited, included in accruals and
other payables, of approximately HK$181,000
(2006: HK$181,000) is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and has no fixed repayment terms.

30.

50,000 Vega
International Group Limited

31.

(i)

(ii)
China Collections Limited

181,000
181,000
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(iii) Amount due to a director is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and is not due for repayment within the
next twelve months.

(iv) Amount due to subsidiaries is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and is not due for repayment within
next twelve months.

(v) Amount due to ultimate holding company is
unsecured, bearing interest at the annual rate of
5% and is not due for repayment within the next
twelve months.

At 31 December 2007, interest payable to the
ultimate holding company was HK$292,000 (2006:
HK$174,000).

(vi) Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group, including amounts paid to the
company’s directors and certain of the highest paid
employees is disclosed in note (10) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(vii) On 8 February 2007, the Company acquired 100%
equity interest in Vega International Group Limited
from a director of the Company, Mr. Xie Xuan, for
the consideration of US$50,000. Details of the
acquisition are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated on 14 February 2007.

(viii) On 12 April 2007, 91,000,000 shares were alloted
to Asian Dyamics International Limited, the ultimate
holding company of the Company, at a subscription
price of HK$0.1 per share pursuant to subscription
agreement dated 12 February 2007.

31.

(iii)
12

(iv)
12

(v)
5%

12

292 ,000
174,000

(vi)

(10)

(vii)
Vega

International Group Limited100%
50,000

(viii)
91,000,000

0.1

As ian  Dynamics
International Limited.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
which result from its operating and investing
activities.

Management regularly manage the financial risks
of the Group. Because of the simplicity of the
financial structure and the current operation of the
Group, no major hedging activities are undertaken
by management.

The most significant financial risks to which the
Group is exposed to are as follows:

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has adopted the Hong Kong dollar
as its functional and presentation currency.
Those subsidiaries operated in the People’s
Republic of China are exposed to foreign
exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC
government, the directors consider that the
foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange rate hedging policy in respect of
commercial transactions denominated in
foreign currencies. However, the directors
monitors exchange rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant exchange rate
exposure should the need arise.

32.

(a)

(i)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(ii) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in the event that counterparties fail to perform
their obligations at 31 December 2007 in
relation to each class of recognized financial
assets is the carrying amounts of those assets
as stated in the consolidated balance sheet.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade receivables and amounts due from
subsidiaries. In order to minimize credit risk,
management reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognized for irrecoverable debts. In this
regard, management considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks of good
standing.

Trade receivables are due within 90 days from
the date of billing. Debtors with balance that
are more than 90 days past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

32.

(a)

(ii)

90 90
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32. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are  respons ib le  fo r  the i r  own cash
management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s
board of directors when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected l iquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed l ines of funding from major
shareholders, if any, to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

(iv) Fair value and cash flow interest rate
risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Company’s exposure to fair
value and cash flow interest rate risks is
minimal as the Company’s income and
operating cash f lows are substantial ly
independent of changes in market interest
rates.

32.

(a)

(iii)

(iv)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(b) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Acquisition of a media company

On 11 January 2008, the Board announced that the
Company entered into the agreement pursuant to which
the Company conditionally agreed to purchase 100%
equity interest of a media company in the PRC at the
Consideration of HK$157 million (the “Consideration”).
The Consideration shall be financed by (i) the issue and
allotment of 324,082,568 new Shares at HK$0.218 per
Consideration Share; and (ii) the issue in aggregate of
HK$86,350,000 of zero-coupon Convertible Notes
convertible at the initial Conversion Price of HK$0.218
per Share with 24-month maturity. Details of the
acquisition are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 28 February 2008.

The acquisition was approved by the Independent
Shareholders by way of poll at the EGM held on 14 March
2008 and set out in the announcement of the Company
on the same date.

32.

(b)

33.

1 0 0
157,000,000

( i )
0.218 324,082,568

(ii) 86,350,000

0.218 24



99

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(i) S.221 Companies Ordinance Proceeding in
the High Court

The Company and several of its subsidiaries and
former subsidiaries and a former director of the
Company, who has been indemnified by the
Company for any legal costs that he may incur in
relation to the litigation between the Provisional
Liquidators and the Company’s subsidiaries, have
been involved in litigation with the Provisional
Liquidators of Union Resources (Educational
Development) Limited, a former subsidiary of the
Company. The other companies in the group which
were involved are:— Asian Information Resources
(BVI) Limited, AIR Logistics International Limited,
and Bei j ing AIR Strategy and Informat ion
Technology Limited. They had all been made
respondents by the Provisional Liquidators in their
application for obtaining documents under an
application made pursuant to section 221 of the
Companies Ordinance.

The said companies contested the application of
the Provisional Liquidators but lost in the hearing
on 10 August 2006. The Provisional Liquidators
have since obtained a costs order against the said
companies. They have demanded a sum of
HK$1,404,576 from the said companies. The sum
demanded was considered to be unreasonable,
hence no offer has been made to settle the
outstanding costs order. Since applying for taxation
the Provisional Liquidators have revised their costs
estimate and are now demanding the sum of
HK$1,108,905. In the circumstances, the issue still
requires to be adjudicated by the High Court of
Hong Kong. The maximum exposure of the
Company would be in the sum of HK$1,108,905
plus the costs of taxation.
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(ii) Further action on S.221 order

Even though the Company and the relevant
subsidiaries have already endeavoured to give all
the documents to the Provisional Liquidators, the
Provisional Liquidators have sti l l  found the
discovery to be unsatisfactory. Consequently, they
have threatened to take further action against the
Company and its subsidiaries for the outstanding
documents that the Company could not locate or
found missing. The Provisional Liquidators have
reserved all their rights in relation to the application,
including the right to apply to the Court to seek
further relief. If the Provisional Liquidators do make
further application to the Court, the company
envisages that additional legal costs will be incurred
by the Company in relation to any application which
may be made.

35. LITIGATION

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries was involved in any litigation or claim
of material importance and there was no litigation or
claim of material importance known to the Directors to
be pending or threatened against the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

36. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in
order to confirm with the current year’s accounts
presentation.

37. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were authorized for issue by
the Company’s Board of Directors on 26 March 2008.
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